
 
 

 

 
Dear Soliciting Parties: 
 
Central Maine Power Company (CMP), an affiliate of Iberdrola USA, provides the following 
comments and points for clarification regarding the Draft Request for Proposals for Clean Energy 
and Transmission (Draft RFP).  CMP is currently considering proposing one or more transmission 
projects to serve the clean energy needs of the Soliciting Parties and appreciates this 
opportunity to provide comments on the Draft RFP.  CMP’s comments are organized to track the 
Draft RFP by section as set forth below. 
 
INTRODUCTION 
 

1) On page 1 the Draft RFP states that “this solicitation is broader in scope and geography 
than those state‐specific legal requirements and therefore, certain aspects of this RFP 
may require legislative and/or regulatory action in order to ensure cost recovery for 
certain types of proposals.”  Please specify what types of proposals would require 
legislative and/or regulatory action in order to ensure cost recovery? 

 
1.1 BACKGROUND, PURPOSE AND ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE 

 
2)  In the first paragraph of this section, the Draft RFP states “Consequently, evaluation and 

selection will involve an iterative process by which the parties from each state will first 
review and rank bids based on the requirements of their respective state. Then the 
parties from all three of the Procuring States will collaborate to determine whether 
together they can create a portfolio of projects that would reduce the cost to customers 
in each of the three states and still comply with each state’s requirements and clean 
energy goals.”   
 
a. Please clarify how the individual and then collaborative iterative processes are 

intended to work.  What will happen if the parties from all three Procuring States 
cannot create a portfolio of projects that would reduce the cost to customers in each 
state while complying with each state’s requirements and clean energy goals?   
 

b. Please also specify whether this collaboration will occur during the “Evaluation” or 
“Selection” phase of proposal assessment, or both. 



 
 

 

 
3) In the second sentence of the third paragraph of this section, the Draft RFP uses the 

phrase “new stand-alone transmission projects.”  By this phrase do the Soliciting Parties 
intend any limitation with respect to the scope of proposed Transmission Projects, such 
as radial transmission lines designed only to gather or transmit energy from specific 
Qualified Clean Energy generation resources?  In CMP’s view, such a narrow intention 
would be contrary to the objectives of the RFP because it is likely that in order to 
facilitate the gathering and transmission of Qualified Clean Energy, a proposed 
Transmission Project may include upgrades at various locations of the existing ISO-NE 
administered transmission system. 
 

4) Also regarding the last sentence of the third paragraph, please confirm whether the term 
“incremental clean energy” includes those clean energy projects currently under 
contract (e.g., Number Nine Mountain, Stetson, Blue Sky, etc...) or only new generation 
projects not yet under contract.  

 

1.2.1  DEFINITION OF KEY TERMS 
 

5) “Delivery”, “Deliver” or “Delivered”:  These terms are defined to mean Qualified Clean 
Energy “i) injected into the ISO-NE energy market at specified and agreed upon pricing 
node . . . , and ii) injected under any additional required and agreed upon conditions 
intended to reflect and realize a generally unconstrained/uncongested delivery of the 
Qualified Clean Energy throughout the region.”   

 
a. Does clause i) of the definition mean that the Soliciting Parties are seeking point-to-

point transmission service for all proposed Qualified Clean Energy?  If not, please 
clarify the definition to reflect the Soliciting Parties’ intent.  Also, if the proposed 
Transmission Project includes transmission upgrades that relieve transmission 
constraints inside New England on the existing Bulk Electric System administered by 
ISO-NE, please clarify how a delivery commitment can be made when there is no 
regional point-to-point transmission service under the ISO-NE Open Access 
Transmission Tariff (OATT) and when ISO-NE does not recognize internal transmission 
reservations?    

 



 
 

 

b. CMP understands the clause ii) of the definition to mean that to be “Delivered” a 
Qualified Clean Energy resource should not be dispatched down or off because of 
transmission constraints under normal operating conditions.  In other words, when 
the Qualified Clean Energy generation can run, there should be no constraints to its 
delivery into and throughout the ISO-NE energy market.  Is this correct?  If this is not 
the correct understanding, please define what is meant by “generally 
unconstrained/uncongested delivery of the Qualified Clean Energy throughout the 
region.  

 

c. Please also confirm whether “generally unconstrained/uncongested delivery of the 
Qualified Clean Energy throughout the region” means full Clean Energy deliverability 
at nameplate, but still allows for: 

 Congestion of New England coal/oil/gas fossil-fueled generation? 

 Congestion which reduces New Brunswick imports, or at full import 

capability? 

 Full deliverability at all load levels? 

 Full deliverability with only all facilities in service, or also under N-1 or N-

1-1 contingency conditions? 

 
6) “Qualified Clean Energy Delivery Commitment”:    

 
a. Please specify as part of this definition and/or in Section 1.2.2.3 what performance 

metric will be used to determine that the specified amount of Qualified Clean Energy 
is Delivered.   
 

b. For purposes of meeting this performance metric, will the injection of the Qualified 
Clean Energy at the specified and agreed upon pricing node be sufficient or will the 
developer of the Transmission Project have to demonstrate that the Qualified Clean 
Energy was able to flow on an unconstrained/uncongested basis throughout the New 
England Region?   
 

c. If the latter, please specify what showing the Soliciting Parties will expect, given that 
there is no regional point-to-point transmission service under the ISO-NE OATT and 
ISO-NE does not recognize internal transmission reservations. 



 
 

 

 
7) “Performance-Based Tariff”:  This definition references a “contract” for a Transmission 

Project.  Do the Soliciting Parties contemplate that the developer of a Transmission 
Project selected through the RFP process will enter a contract with the EDCs?   If so, 
please provide a template for the contemplated contract as part of the RFP.  If not, 
please clarify the use of the term “contract” in this definition. 
 

8) “Transmission Project”:   CMP understands this definition to mean that a Transmission 
Project should not include interconnection facilities or network upgrades required under 
minimum interconnection requirements.  Is this correct?  

1.2.2.2  QUALIFIED CLEAN ENERGY AND/OR RECS VIA PPA WITH A TRANSMISSION PROJECT 
UNDER FERC TARIFF 

 
9) For this category of bids, do the Soliciting Parties envision a single submission that 

includes both bids for a PPA and for the proposed Transmission Project and/or multiple 
submissions that are expressly linked together?  Please clarify. 
 

10) In submitting a bid under this category, would it be appropriate to tie a proposed 
Transmission Project to bids from a number of competing clean energy projects for PPAs 
from Eligible Facilities, thereby leaving the Soliciting Parties flexibility to select the 
Eligible Facility(ies) that will be served by the Transmission Project?  Alternatively, do the 
Soliciting Parties envision transmission developers selecting the Eligible Facilities in some 
fashion before submitting a bid for a Transmission Project? 
 

11) CMP understands that this category of bids, as further clarified in Appendix G, 
contemplates that the developer of a Transmission Project will recover its revenue 
requirements from the EDCs and other load-serving entities in the participating New 
England States under the terms of a FERC approved tariff, not from Clean Energy 
generators awarded a PPA under the RFP.  If this understanding is not correct, please 
clarify this section and Appendix G as to how and from whom a transmission developer 
will recover its revenue requirements.  

1.2.2.3  QUALIFIED CLEAN ENERGY VIA TRANSMISSION PROJECT UNDER A PERFORMANCE 
BASED TARIFF CONTAINING A QUALIFIED CLEAN ENERGY DELIVERY COMMITMENT; NO PPA 

 



 
 

 

12) Regarding the Qualified Clean Energy Delivery Commitment, please clarify how the 
Delivery Commitment will be impacted in the event that a Qualified Clean Energy 
resource gets constrained down or off because additional generation comes on line at 
some future time (above that included in this solicitation), which generation impacts the 
dispatch of the Qualified Clean Energy underlying the Delivery Commitment. 
 

13) See also Comment 7 above.  

1.2.5  QUANTITIES AND CONTRACT TERM LENGTHS 
 

14) Do the Soliciting Parties have an expectation as the deadline by which a selected Eligible 
Project must commence commercial operations, i.e., the Commercial Operation Date 
(COD) for the selected Projects?  If so, please specify such COD in the RFP.  Please also 
indicate whether the COD for proposed projects will be a material aspect of the 
evaluation of the proposed Projects and whether the Soliciting Parties will allow for 
some flexibility in the COD? 
 

15) Regarding the Connecticut procurement levels, CMP understands that the 1375 GWh/yr 

of Qualified Energy must have a commercial operation date of 2003 or later – do 

hydroelectric plant capacity upgrades since 2003 qualify under Section 7 of CT Public Act 

13-303?  

 

16) Please specify what capacity factor the Evaluation Team will assume for wind-powered 

energy, (i.e., Delivery is based on capacity and output, but the PPA is based on energy.) 

 

17) Regarding the statutory contract terms, please clarify how such terms apply to proposed 
Transmission Projects.  For example, if the term of a PPA for a Qualified Clean Energy 
resource bundled together with a Transmission Project is 20 years, is it the Soliciting 
Parties’ expectation that the recovery of the transmission related revenue requirements 
will also occur over the same 20 year term?  Alternatively, do the Soliciting Parties 
expect that the Transmission Project will be included in the ISO-NE Regional Network 
Service as PTF upon termination of PPA?   
 



 
 

 

18) Regarding the statement on page 7 of the Draft RFP “The Soliciting Parties are also 
interested in receiving bids for Qualified Clean Energy in excess of these amounts or that 
do not qualify under the specified state statutes, so long as those bids are in the form of 
Qualified Clean Energy Via Transmission Under a Performance‐Based Tariff Containing a 
Qualified Clean Energy Delivery Commitment.”  Please clarify whether all bids for 
Qualified Clean Energy greater than 2,317 GWh/yr (sum of MA and CT stated needs) 
should be submitted per RFP Section 1.2.2.3. 

 

1.3.3.1  CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION SHARING AUTHORIZATION FOR ISO-NE 
 

19) Regarding the statement on Page 10 of the Draft RFP that “ISO‐NE will be requested to 

provide high level advisory information to the Evaluation Team concerning proposals as 

part of the proposal evaluation process.”  Please provide the following additional 

information: 

a. Specify what “high level advisory information” will be requested from ISO-NE.   

 

 

b. Confirm whether ISO-NE will be asked to consider deliverability consistent with its 

assumptions in the May 2014 PAC presentation on Maine Wind Integration.  For 

example, will ISO-NE be asked for their assessment on deliverability by season, and 

consider some fossil-fueled generation constraints?  

 

c. Confirm whether ISO-NE will be asked for their view on any additional requirements 

beyond whether the proposed project complies with Section I.3.9 of the ISO OATT. 

 

20) The Soliciting Parties should also affirm that any confidential information provided ISO-

NE will remain confidential when in the possession of the Evaluation Team and will not 

be made available to the public. 

1.5  BIDDER CERTIFICATION 
 
21)  Subparagraph 3 of this subsection includes a carve-out regarding knowledge of 

proposals submitted by affiliates.  Do the Soliciting Parties have any concerns about 



 
 

 

proposals for a Qualified Clean Energy PPA and a Transmission Project being submitted 
by affiliates, i.e., the Eligible Facility proposing the PPA is an affiliate of the Transmission 
Project developer. 
 

22) CMP also recommends that the Soliciting Parties modify subparagraph 3 to include the 
following exclusions to the “no knowledge” certification: 
 

a. Include an exclusion for publicly available information.  There have been press 
reports and other publicly filed information regarding certain contemplated 
transmission and Clean Energy generation projects in the New England Region, 
which publicly available information may make it difficult for bidders to 
accurately provide the required certification without such an exclusion.   
 

b. Include an exclusion for information a certain bidders, such as transmission 
utilities, may have obtained about proposed generation resources through the 
ISO-NE administered interconnection process, which should not preclude their 
participation in this solicitation. 

 

c. Include an exclusion for information voluntarily shared among potential bidders 
concerning their proposed projects prior to the RFP submission date, including as 
part of discussions of joint bids and/or information sharing to support bids. 

1.7  NON-REFUNDABLE BID FEES 
 
23) Please clarify how the Bid Fee will be calculated for both the Clean Energy Eligible Facility 

and the Transmission Project for:   i) a Qualified Clean Energy and/or RECs Via PPA with a 
Transmission Project under FERC Tariff; and ii) a Qualified Clean Energy Via Transmission 
Project under a Performance Based Tariff Containing a Qualified Clean Energy Delivery 
Commitment.   Please also clarify that only one bid fee is due for a proposed project with 
multiple bidders. 
 

24) Please confirm that bid fees will be refunded if a project is deemed ineligible or in the 
event that the RFP is terminated before the selection of any project.   
 

2.2.1  ELIGIBLE BIDDER 



 
 

 

 
25) CMP recommends that this provision be modified to read that “An Eligible Bidder is a 

bidder who is the owner of an Eligible Project or the owner of development rights to an 
Eligible Project, i.e., the developer of the Eligible Project.”  Without this change, the 
developer of a Transmission Project could not be an “Eligible Bidder” given the definition 
of “Eligible Facility” in Section 1.2.4. 

2.2.2  ELIGIBLE FACILITY 
 

26) This section seems to suggest that the Soliciting Parties intend that Eligible Facility status 
is a minimum threshold requirement to satisfy the Stage One review.  If this is the 
Soliciting Parties’ intent, then no Transmission Project could satisfy the Stage One 
requirements given the definition “Eligible Facility” in Section 1.2.4.  Assuming this is not 
the Soliciting Parties’ intent, then this section should be revised to make clear that in 
order to qualify for evaluation, all proposals must meet the requirements of an “Eligible 
Project” outlined in Section 1.2.3. 

2.2.3.2  QUALIFIED CLEAN ENERGY AND/OR RECS VIA PPA WITH A TRANSMISSION PROJECT 
UNDER FERC TARIFF 
 

27) Please clarify what the “review through ISO-NE processes” is contemplated for a 
Transmission Project, particularly with respect to any proposed tariff.   Specifically, 
 
a. Please confirm whether this statement refers to the ISO-NE OATT Section I.3.9 

process, and if so, do the Soliciting Parties understand that the I.3.9. process will  
occur after selection or a contract is executed? If that is not the Soliciting Parties’ 
understanding or expectation, please clarify this point in the RFP. 
 

b. Also, to the extent that multiple generation projects are submitted with a 
Transmission Project, do the Soliciting Parties expect that these projects will be 
considered as an aggregate for a “cluster” System Impact Study/Proposed Plan 
Application Study, as a whole, under the ISO-NE OATT? 

2.2.3.3  QUALIFIED CLEAN ENERGY VIA TRANSMISSION PROJECT UNDER A PERFORMANCE 
BASED TARIFF CONTAINING A QUALIFIED CLEAN ENERGY DELIVERY COMMITMENT 
 



 
 

 

28) Please see Comments 7 and 12 above. 
 

29) Please clarify what is meant by “may provide greater value to potential supporters of the 
Qualified Clean Energy Delivery Commitment,” including specifically identifying the 
referenced “potential supporters.”   

2.2.14  PROPOSAL COMPLETENESS:  ELIGIBLE BIDDER RESPONSE FORMS AND THE FORM PPA 
 

30) Please clarify whether the last sentence of the first paragraph of this subsection 
regarding Eligible Projects having an ISO-NE interconnection queue position applies to 
Transmission Projects. 
  

2.3.1  EVALUATION USING QUANTITATIVE EVALUATION CRITERIA 
 

31) This subsection indicates that the Soliciting Parties will use a production cost model to 
evaluate proposals.  Do the Soliciting Parties intend to disclose the underlying 
assumptions that will be used in the production cost model?   CMP recommends that 
Soliciting Parties provide those assumptions so that Bidders can utilize them in 
formulating their proposals. 
 

32) Regarding the last sentence of the second paragraph of this section, CMP also 
recommends that the RFP articulate specifically all “additional benefits” of Transmission 
Projects that will be considered as part of the evaluation.  Doing so will assist Bidders to 
formulate their proposals in ways that will best address the objectives of the Soliciting 
Parties. 

2.4.3  SECURITY 
 
33) CMP understands that that the Development Period Security and the Operating Period 

Security for proposed Transmission Projects with a PPA are determined only with regards 
to the Contract Maximum Amount as set forth in the PPA and there will not be separate 
security amounts for the Transmission Project and the Qualified Clean Energy resource.  
Please confirm this understanding or clarify in the RFP how the security amounts will be 
determined for Transmission Projects with a PPA. 
 



 
 

 

34) CMP understands that that the Development Period Security and the Operating Period 
Security for proposed Transmission Projects under a performance based tariff (no PPA) is 
determined only with regards to the kW quantity set forth in the Qualified Clean Energy 
Delivery Commitment.  Please confirm this understanding or clarify in the RFP how the 
security amounts will be determined for Transmission Projects under a performance 
based tariff (no PPA). 
 

35) In addition to the FERC acceptance of the proposed tariff or rate schedule, proposed 
Transmission Projects will require state siting approval, such as a Certificate of Public 
Convenience and Necessity, from the applicable siting authority.  CMP accordingly 
recommends that the payment of the remaining fifty percent (50%) of the Development 
Period Security for Transmission Projects under a performance based tariff (no PPA) 
occur after both FERC approval and state siting approval.  CMP further recommends that 
the RFP provide for the prompt return of the Development Period Security in the event 
that state siting approval is denied. 

2.5  REGULATORY APPROVAL   
 

36) In addition to the regulatory approvals listed in this section, proposed Transmission 
Projects will likely require state siting approval, such as a Certificate of Public 
Convenience and Necessity, from the applicable siting authority.   The RFP should include 
such state siting approval as a necessary condition for the implementation of any 
selected Transmission Project, whether with or without a PPA. 

3.4  ORGANIZATION OF THE PROPOSAL 
 

37)  The listing of the subjects for proposal submissions in this Section includes “Bid Pricing” 

as item 3.  However, the detailed proposal submission instructions in Appendix B omit 

“Bid Pricing” as a discrete subject area for the proposal submissions.  Please clarify. 

APPENDIX B  
 
38) Many of the specific requirements for the Proposal Submissions discussed in Appendix B 

on their face appear to apply only to generation.  Do the Soliciting Parties intend that all 
of the requirements set forth in Appendix B apply to Transmission Projects with or 
without a PPA?  If this is not the Soliciting Parties’ intent, CMP recommends that 



 
 

 

Appendix B be revised to give specific instructions as those requirements that do not 
apply to proposed Transmission Projects.  In this regard, CMP specifically recommends 
that the Soliciting Parties clarify Sections 4, 8 and 12 to identify the information the 
Soliciting Parties seek with respect to proposed Transmission Projects.   
 

39) In the first sentence of Appendix B, Section 1, is the word “Department’s” correct?  
Please clarify the web address where the CPPD for the RFP may be found.   
 

40) Regarding the statement in Appendix B, Section 6.8 (Page B-10) “For Transmission 
Projects provide a description of how the project would satisfy ISO NE’s I.3.9 
requirements,” CMP understands that generation and transmission bidders will not be 
expected to scope and complete I.3.9 studies until after selection or a contract is 
executed, and that this RFP submission requirement is intended to instead determine 
whether bidders have conducted sufficient proof-of-concept studies to give an indication 
of likely outcome of ISO-NE OATT Section I.3.9 reliability study.  Is this understanding 
correct?  If not, please clarify the Soliciting Parties’ expectation with respect to the 
timing for satisfying ISO-NE 1.3.9 requirements.   
 

41) Regarding the requirement in Appendix B, Section 6.11.1 (Page B-10) to provide IDV 
file(s) in PSSE v32 format modeling only the new/modified Transmission components of 
the project, please confirm that PSS/E Version 32 IDV files are only required for 
components that are not included in the most recent ISO-NE Regional System Plan 
Project List.  
 

42) In Appendix B, Section 11.5, please include a time limitation, say the last five years, and a 
project costs threshold for a listing of the projects that the project sponsor has 
successfully developed or that are currently under construction.  CMP has been 
providing transmission and distribution service in Maine for nearly 100 years and has 
completed scores of projects over this extended time period, which would need to be 
listed in response to this section as currently drafted.   

Appendix G 
 

43) Some of the terminology in Appendix G appears to be different than in other portions of 

the Draft RFP.  For example, Appendix G does not use all of the terms defined in Section 



 
 

 

1.2.1.  Please conform the terminology in Appendix G to the rest of the RFP or provide 

definitions of all material terms used in Appendix G. 

 

Thank you for your consideration of these comments.  CMP looks forward to receipt of the 
definitive RFP. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
Thorn C. Dickinson 
Vice President - Business Development  
Iberdrola USA Management Corporation 
 
 
 
 


